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In mid 2013 and with the support of 

our funding partners, the Australia 

Council and Arts SA, the Adelaide 

Symphony Orchestra (ASO) Board 

commissioned highly experienced 

arts and business consultants Rick 

Allert, Trevor Moore and Libby 

Anstis to undertake a wide-ranging 

Strategic Review of the company. 

Their brief was to identify the 

ASO’s strengths, weaknesses, 

opportunities and threats and the 

conditions that would enable the 

company to thrive rather than 

simply survive.

The Review panel handed its final 

report to the Board in November 

2013 with 24 recommendations. 

Some attended to our capacity to 

enhance public value; others to 

refining business practices and 

yet others to improving decision 

making.

From a governance perspective, the 

most significant recommendations 

dealt with membership of the 

Board, in particular, the removal 

from the constitution of the 

restriction of employees to become 

directors. The appointment of 

the Chief Executive as Managing 

Director is a result of the change, 

which also allows for one or more 

serving musicians or members of 

the administrative team to become 

directors.

I am pleased to report here 

that the Board accepted the 

recommendations and have 

approved their implementation.  

It supports the process of review 

and reinvigoration of the Board that 

must happen from time to time and 

in response to the periodic turnover 

of Board members.

The financial accounts that follow 

largely speak for themselves. 2013 

was a difficult year for the ASO. 

The revenue side of the ledger 

reveals an unfortunate and clearly 

undesirable downturn on previous 

revenue results. Costs have been 

contained, as ever; the ASO, like 

many arts organisations, is a lean 

operation.

Nevertheless, box office and 

fundraising revenue need to be 

improved and the Strategic Review 

made clear recommendations 

in that area that will see some 

changes in the ASO’s marketing and 

development functions in the first 

half of 2014.

I welcome our new Chief Executive, 

Vincent Ciccarello, who joined 

the company in November 2013. 

Vincent comes to us with a 

varied and interesting career and 

wealth of experience in orchestra 

management, as a theatrical agent, 

journalist and public relations 

professional. He has hit the ground 

running and is responding to the 

Strategic Review in a thoughtful, 

deliberate manner. We look forward 

to seeing the fruits of his labours in 

coming months.

At the same time I take this 

opportunity to thank Barbara 

George for her three years at 

the helm of the ASO. Orchestra 

management is a tough business 

and Barbara certainly put in ‘the 

hard yards’ in her time with us. We 

wish her well.

I’d like to extend my warmest 

thanks to my fellow Board 

members, three of whom leave us 

in coming months: Karen Hannon, 

Robert Pontifex and Deputy Chair 

Anthony Steel AM. Each of them 

has served two, three-year terms, 

dutifully attending monthly Board 

meetings and countless other 

functions, all for the love of the 

ASO. Their contributions have been 

greatly valued and appreciated.

Thanks go to our funding partners, 

the Australia Council and Arts SA, 

our principal corporate partner, 

Santos, and to all our sponsors and 

donors for their continuing support.

Colin Dunsford AM

Chair

CHAIRMAn’S RePORt
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It is with mixed feelings that I 

submit this report, my first since 

taking up the role of Chief Executive 

in November 2013.

I am, of course, immensely proud 

and honoured to be given the 

opportunity to lead the ASO, an 

organisation that is much-loved and 

celebrated by South Australians 

and with an enviable reputation for 

artistic excellence.

Our consistently high artistic 

standards have not been reflected 

in our financial performance, this 

year.

In short, it has been a tough year. 

For what it is worth, our fellow 

orchestras interstate have reported 

similarly tough conditions: declining 

subscriber numbers but increasing 

numbers of single ticket buyers 

deciding to purchase closer to 

performances, as well as a tight 

fundraising environment. Much 

the same is being reported from 

many other colleagues in the arts 

and culture sector. Collectively, 

we attribute this state of affairs 

to an increasingly competitive 

marketplace, a sluggish economic 

climate, a general lack of consumer 

confidence and, quite possibly, the 

residual effects of the GFC.

All of this is little consolation 

for now we must deal with the 

challenges at hand. Recognising 

these challenges, the ASO 

Board commissioned a Strategic 

Review to examine every aspect 

of the company’s operations and 

operating environment. Our Chair, 

Colin Dunsford, has spoken about 

the findings in his report.

For my part, I am delighted 

that the Review panel did not 

recommend to reduce our program 

or the size of the orchestra – an 

‘easy fix’ by anyone’s standards 

– but recommended, instead, 

to set aggressive box office 

and fundraising targets. Such a 

recommendation certainly focuses 

the mind and requires us to have 

a better understanding of and 

relationship with our existing 

patrons and to identify where the 

opportunities for growth lie.

It also requires the realignment of 

existing resources and the injection 

of additional ones that will have an 

immediate cost to the bottom line 

before yielding a positive result. I 

look forward to reporting on the 

progress of the Strategic Review 

recommendations next year.

One other recommendation I 

will touch on here was for the 

development of a comprehensive 

Community Engagement Plan. We 

will get that process underway 

immediately but I can confirm now 

that the ASO’s Learning program, 

which continues to go from strength 

to strength, will be central to that 

plan. So, too, will our collaboration 

and association with State Opera of 

South Australia, the Australian Ballet 

and the Adelaide Festival Centre. It 

is fair to say that the quality of these 

relationships will be the hallmarks of 

successful arts organisations in the 

years ahead.

As ever, the ASO only exists by 

virtue of the generous support of 

the Federal Government through 

the Australia Council for the Arts, 

the South Australian Government 

through Arts SA and our many 

corporate partners and supporters.

To Santos, our Principal Partner 

of 16 years, thank you. We were 

thrilled that the quality and success 

of our long-standing relationship 

was recognised with the 2013 

Creative Partnerships Partnering 

Award for South Australia and the 

Northern Territory. Our sincerest 

gratitude goes to Santos Managing 

Director and CEO, David Knox, and 

his team – including Peter Cleary, 

James Baulderstone, Damon Hunt, 

Angelo Russo, Chris Marks and 

Beth Worrall – for their support, 

enthusiasm and encouragement.

Special mention, too, of the 

inimitable, indefatigable Friends of 

the ASO, led by Liz Bowen. Your 

tireless, diligent and impressive 

work to raise funds for the ASO 

through all manner of events, 

functions, raffles and myriad 

CHIeF eXeCUtIVe’S RePORt
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of other initiatives is sincerely 

appreciated.

I would like to acknowledge my 

predecessor, Barbara George, who 

resigned to take up the position 

of Chief Executive Officer of the 

Western Institute of Technology 

at Taranaki in her native New 

Zealand. It is evident that Barbara 

worked very hard to secure the 

best possible future for the ASO 

during a difficult time for orchestras 

generally. We thank her and wish 

her well in her new endeavour.

And last, but by no means least,  

I’d like to pay special tribute to  

Arvo Volmer and the playing and 

non-playing members of the 

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra.  

One chapter in our relationship with 

Arvo may have closed but another 

has opened and I thank him for 

leaving me with an orchestra in  

such good shape. To the players 

and management team: thank you 

for your hard work and dedication  

to the cause. I am looking forward 

to leading this remarkable 

organisation into the future and  

to achieving great things together.

Vincent Ciccarello 

Chief Executive

The year 2013 was, in many ways, a 

year of endings and new beginnings 

- both musical and personal.

2013 marked the end of my 

tenure as the Adelaide Symphony 

Orchestra’s Music Director and 

Chief Conductor but also, happily, 

the beginning of a new association 

as the orchestra’s Principal Guest 

Conductor.  I’m delighted with this 

position as it enables the players 

and me to sustain what is a fulfilling 

musical partnership.

Another new beginning at the ASO 

in 2013 was the creation and launch 

of a new conducting team. We 

welcomed the British conductor 

Nicholas McGegan to the ASO 

family as its first ever Artist-in-

Association and also the young 

Australian conductor, Nicholas 

Carter, as our Associate Guest 

Conductor.   Undoubtedly, the ASO 

will enjoy some great music-making 

with these two very special artists.

Musically, in 2013 we celebrated 

a very special birthday: the 

centenary of the birth of the British 

composer Benjamin Britten. I was 

thrilled to lead the ASO, Adelaide 

Symphony Chorus, Young Adelaide 

Voices and a cast of international 

soloists in what was a memorable 

performance of one of the 

composer’s greatest achievements 

– his mighty War Requiem. This 

music had not been heard in 

Adelaide for 23 years.  It was a 

timely event and a remarkable 

night of music in the Adelaide 

Festival Theatre. I also conducted 

outstanding concerto performances 

from James Ehnes in Britten’s Violin 

Concerto and Steven Osborne in 

the Piano Concerto. And, as part 

of our new and successful matinee 

series at Adelaide’s Elder Hall, the 

ASO’s Concertmaster, Natsuko 

Yoshimoto, directed a powerful 

reading of Britten’s Variations on a 

theme of Frank Bridge.

Not only was he a great composer, 

but Benjamin Britten was also a 

CHIeF eXeCUtIVe’S RePORt COnt...
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fine conductor and he conducted 

music by Gustav Mahler. In 2013, 

the ASO and I ended our Mahler 

symphony cycle with a performance 

of the valedictory Ninth Symphony.  

That concert marked the closing 

of another chapter. It has been an 

honour for me to have led both 

our musicians and listeners on this 

musical odyssey. It is important 

that symphony orchestras today 

continue to perform these great 

symphonic canons in their entirety.  

Immersing ourselves in the music 

of Bruckner, Beethoven, Sibelius, 

Mahler et al over months, years 

or even a lifetime, deepens our 

understanding and love of this 

profound music.

Also in 2013 we welcomed many 

wonderful world-class musicians 

to Adelaide. Highlights included 

a unanimous and energised 

performance of the Seventh 

Symphony by Beethoven with 

conductor Mark Wigglesworth, an 

exquisitely shaped Piano Concerto 

by Scriabin in the hands of Nikolai 

Demidenko, and a spectacular  

Rite of Spring by Igor Stravinsky 

under the baton of Yan Pascal 

Tortelier. And, of course, the 

superlative Pinchas Zukerman 

played Beethoven’s Violin Concerto 

to a packed house at Adelaide  

Town Hall. 

New music – both Australian and 

international – featured strongly in 

our 2013 concert season. The ASO 

gave the Adelaide premiere of a 

Piccolo Concerto by Paul Stanhope 

and we performed recent and new 

works by Natalie Williams, Brett 

Dean and Graeme Koehne. Also, 

we heard the Australian Premiere of 

James MacMillan’s Oboe Concerto 

performed by its dedicatee, the 

great British oboist, Nicholas Daniel.

The ASO’s Spectacular series 

offered a wide range of popular 

concerts designed to entertain, 

to intrigue and welcome new 

audiences to the ASO. In Cirque de 

la Symphonie the ASO collaborated 

with jugglers, contortionists and 

acrobats and also we rocked the 

night away in a Triple M Symphonic 

Rock extravaganza at the Adelaide 

Entertainment Centre. Add to that, 

the ever popular Last Night of the 

Proms presented and conducted by 

the irrepressible Guy Noble plus a 

jazz-inspired Christmas concert with 

the trumpet legend James Morrison, 

all made for an entertaining and 

diverse portfolio of concerts.

And we ended 2013 on a high note 

as the ASO fared well at various art 

industry awards. At the 2013 APRA 

Art Music Awards, Brett Dean’s Fire 

Music won the Orchestral Work of 

the Year Award in a performance 

by the ASO conducted by the 

composer. The ASO also won the 

APRA State Award for Excellence 

in Music Education for an ASO 

Learning project featuring emerging 

Australian composers as part of 

Adelaide’s OzAsia Festival. Also,  

we won the Adelaide Crtitics 

Accolade for our performance in 

the pit for the State Opera of South 

Australia’s production of Richard 

Strauss’ s Salome.

Since 2004, it has been a privilege 

to have made some great music 

with what is undoubtedly one 

of Australia’s finest symphony 

orchestras. But, for me, 2013 is not 

a farewell to the ASO. It represents 

a consolidation of our work 

together and, although not without 

challenges ahead, this is a new and 

exciting beginning as together we 

look to secure a great artistic future 

for the ASO.

Arvo Volmer 

Principal Guest Conductor  
and Artisic Advisor 

April 2014

ARtIStIC  RePORt COnt...
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This statement outlines the 
Adelaide Symphony Orchestra’s 
corporate governance practices in 
line with the eight Good Practice 
Governance Principles published 
and monitored by the Major 
Performing Arts Board of the 
Australia Council for the Arts.

These Principles are based on the 
recommendations published by 
the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council.

The statement sets out the Adelaide 
Symphony Orchestra’s compliance 
with the eight Principles as at the 
end of the calendar year.

Principle 1:
Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight

The practice of the ASO’s Board 
of Directors is governed by the 
Company’s Constitution.

The Board appoints the Chief 
Executive and is responsible for 
conducting the annual performance 
review of that position. The Board 
delegates the management of the 
organisation to the Chief Executive 
and senior management team, and 
retains oversight of each of the 
ASO’s significant business streams 
through Board sub-committees. 
Membership of the sub-committees 
includes at least one Board Director 
as well as senior management.

Charters exist for each of the Board 
sub-committees.

The Directors who sit on the Board 
sub-committees act as a Board 
interface by representing the Board 
and reporting back at full Board 
meetings.

The Company has an induction 
procedure for new Directors that it 
implements within the first month of 
the appointment.

Each year, a calendar of Board and 
Board sub-committee meetings is 
set. The Board met eleven times 
in 2013. In addition, the Board 
and senior management attend 
a strategy day each triennium to 
review pertinent issues outside 
the scope of a regular Board 
meeting and develop a response 
and implementation plan to these 
issues. The scope of the Board 
meetings includes but is not 
limited to the ASO’s three-year 
Business Plan, artistic program, 
budget for the forthcoming season 
and financial year, updates from 
the Chief Executive and sub-
committees and any priority issues. 
The Board approves the Strategic 
Plan and is the owner of that plan.

Members of the senior management 
team prepare regular reports to the 
Board and occasionally have face-
to-face sessions with the Board.

From time to time, as needed, 
temporary sub-committees are 
established (e.g. to oversee 
the development of Enterprise 
Agreements) and existing sub-
committees are expanded.

Principle 2:
Structure the Board to add value

The Board includes Directors 
with a range of skills including 
finance and accounting, business 
(both public companies and 
small business and within and 
external to the arts industry) and 
commercial experience, law, 
government, marketing, fundraising, 
and philanthropy. Their skills 
and experience is set out in the 
Statutory Accounts. 

The number of Directors is to be 
no more than 12 and not less 
than half to enable meetings to be 
conducted. 

As noted in Principle 1, the Board 
delegate the oversight of the ASO’s 
significant business streams to the 
Audit & Finance, Governance and 
other Sub-committees.

There is clear division of 
responsibility between the Chair 
and the Chief Executive.

The charters of the ASO Board and 
of the Governance sub-committee 
include the requirement to:

• Recommend to the Board 
possible new Board members, 
with regard to the diversity of 
the skills of the ASO Board 
members and organisation skill 
requirements;

• Develop Board criteria and skill 
requirements;

• Evaluate the Board’s 
performance as a whole and of 
individual members;

• Actively manage the Board 
rotation system, where 
Directors are appointed for an 
initial term of three years and 
must retire after the second 
term. The terms are to be offset 
to ensure there is minimal 
impact on the accumulated 
corporate knowledge. Directors 
are eligible for reappointment 
(after the first 3 year term). 
Under the Constitution their 
terms may be extended 
by a further three years at 
the discretion of the Board. 
Directors must be non-
executive appointments.

• Ensure succession planning for 
Chief Executive and other key 
management roles including 
Chief Conductor and/or artistic 
leader; and 

• Ensure that new Board 
members are adequately 
educated about the ASO.

CORPORAte gOVeRnAnCe StAteMent
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In addition, the Board relies on the 
advice of the Artistic Committee, 
a group comprising the Chief 
Executive, Director of Artistic 
Planning and key Orchestra 
members. The group meets on a 
regular basis to assess and improve 
artistic quality and performance 
standards, and review artistic 
standards and achievements of the 
ASO’s program.

Principle 3:
Promote ethical and responsible 
decision-making

Each meeting of the Directors has 
a standing agenda item where 
Directors can declare if they have 
any conflicts of interest between 
themselves and the Company.

The ASO Board is charged with 
a number of procedural matters 
including:

• review of annual operating 
plan and short and long term 
budgets/plans;

• articulation of the ASO’s vision 
and mission; and

• establishment and 
communication of expectations 
in regard to the cultural values 
and ethics of the Company. 

Codes of conduct exist for 
musicians and administrative 
staff, and are included in a Board 
Induction manual which is provided 
to new Directors.

The Board holds itself to the highest 
standards of ethical and responsible 
decision making.

Principle 4:
Promote diversity

The ASO Board has its Diversity 
Policy in draft and expects to 
approve the final version in coming 
months.

The policy focuses on the 
organisational culture and how it 
embraces diversity within the ASO.

Principle 5:
Safeguard integrity in financial 
reporting

The Audit & Finance Sub-
Committee comprises at least 
two Directors and, by invitation, 
the Chief Executive and Business 
and Finance Manager as well as 
other operational staff as required. 
The committee meets at least bi-
monthly and its functions include:

• Review and monitoring 
progress against Strategic 
Plan and Budget/forecast, 
and reporting to the Board 
on management and annual 
financial statements; 

• Provision of input to 
management in setting the 
Strategic Plan and Budget;

• Ensuring compliance 
with applicable laws and 
regulations;

• Ensuring strong internal control, 
policies and procedures are in 
place;

• Development and monitoring  
of investment policy; and

• Review of significant capital 
expenditure items before 
submission to the Board for 
approval.

This Committee membership 
will always comprise of people 
who have business and/or formal 
accounting qualifications.

The Chair of the Audit & Finance 
Committee, Chief Executive and 
Business and Finance Manager 
must attest to the auditors 
that the operational results are 
in accordance with relevant 
accounting standards.

The annual accounts are 
independently audited.

Principle 6:
Recognise the legitimate interests 
of stakeholders

The Board is charged with ultimate 
responsibility to ensure that 
productive working relationships 
with key ASO stakeholders are 
maintained. The day to day 
management of key stakeholder 
relationships is delegated to the 
ASO’s Chief Executive and in turn 
to the senior management team. 
The ASO actively encourages and 
actions audience feedback via its 
website as well as by verbal, postal 
and electronic communication 
channels. The Chief Executive, 
senior management team and 
Board members regularly meet 
with key stakeholders including 
government, sponsors, audiences, 
the Orchestra itself and those 
providing professional advice to the 
ASO. 

Principle 7:
Recognise and manage risk

The Board delegates oversight 
of risk management procedures 
and actions to all Board sub-
committees, and recognition and 
management of risk to the Chief 
Executive and senior management 
team. The charter of the Audit and 
Finance sub-committee includes 
the safeguarding of company assets 
incorporating the administration of 
the company’s investment policy.

Principle 8:
Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The Board is specifically charged 
with ensuring the achievement, 
development and succession of 
the Company’s senior management 
team, including remuneration.

The Board assesses and, when 
necessary, takes professional 
advice on market benchmarks for 
remuneration. The Board provides 
the Chief Executive with parameters 
within which to negotiate 
musician and administration staff 
agreements.

The Board itself is not remunerated.
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The loss for the Group for the year to 31 December 2013 was $168,782.

Ticket sales volumes were slightly behind 2012 whilst ticket revenues had fallen by 10%. This was related to the change in the mix 
of concerts relative to 2012 and their respective average ticket prices. Sponsorships and donations were 3% behind in tough market 
conditions. The inclusion of a one-off consolidation gain of $126,551 related to the ASO Foundation Incorporated, which significantly 
contributed to the slightly improved result (a lower deficit) compared to 2012.
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Four Strategic Goals and their KPIs
The ASO, through its strategic planning process, developed four main strategic goals that the company needs to focus on to 
achieve its long term objectives. These goals are the Artform and Quality Goal; the Expansion & Sector development Goal; Access 
& Relationship Goal and the Governance & Financial Goal. (See next page)

Within each of the four strategic goals there are several key performance indicators (KPIs) that provide both qualitative and 
quantitative measures of the success or otherwise of striving towards that strategy. (See below to the right). The company has 
agreed 29 KPIs it will use and of those 14 have achieved target in 2013 whilst nine KPIs are still in progress. Where the KPIs are not 
achieved the Board understands the reasoning for the below target KPIs. 

1. Artform and Quality Goal 
Maintain an orchestra that presents an annual broad-ranging program of artistically vibrant symphonic music, and that provides 
cost effective pit services to the State Opera of South Australia and the Australian Ballet. This will include innovative programming 
of new and existing work. Our performances are to support professional excellence and artistic vibrancy via performance 
management across the organisation. 

Key PeRFORMAnCe IndICAtORS
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StRAtegIeS HOw we wIll MeASURe HOw we ARe gOIng

Engage a new Chief Conductor for the ASO KPI 1.1.  A new Chief Conductor engaged to 
begin no later than 2015.

In progress

Plan and present a subscription season that is 
artistically excellent and vibrant, that engages high 
calibre conductors and soloists, using networks to 
cost-effectively bring these artists to South Australia.

KPI 1.2. The costs of travelling 70% of guest 
artists will be shared with at least one other 
presenter.

Achieved

Curating and development of the artform through 
innovative programming of new and existing work 
throughout our core repertoire each season.

KPI 1.3. 20% of concerts will contain new works, 
or works that are presented in innovative ways, or 
are large scale productions of works not regularly 
programmed (e.g. Britten’s War Requiem). 

Achieved

Development of artists and young artists by exposing 
them to the artform, training and the orchestra

KPI 1.4. 6 new or young artists will be engaged 
with the ASO each year; 30 hours contact time.

Achieved

Artistic peer assessment / surveys / consultations and 
other to be carried out during the year.

KPI 1.5. Artistic peer assessments will return 78% 
favourable responses each year.   

Achieved

Undertake audience impact surveys each year to 
measure engagement, stimulation and relevance 

KPI 1.6. Surveys will return 78% favourable 
responses each year.

Achieved

Develop and resource a performance management 
program for the players that enable us to better 
manage performance and ensure artistic standards 
remain optimal.

KPI 1.7. Document a performance management 
process in place by end of 2014 and then 
continually developed.  Outcomes will include 
professional development recommendations 
where necessary. 

In progress

Continue to work with the players on an EBA that is 
appropriate for Adelaide and that will enable artistic 
excellence and productivity gains and so that we may 
attract and retain the best musicians. 

KPI 1.8. A new three-year EBA will be negotiated 
with the players

In progress

2. Expansion and Sector Development Goal
Develop compelling music for our audiences and demonstrate commitment to taking a leadership role in developing the arts, the 
artform and artists in South Australia.  This will include commissioning and presenting new work, and collaborating with other 
companies, artists and schools.

StRAtegIeS HOw we wIll MeASURe HOw we ARe gOIng

Continually develop new and compelling products 
and content to attract new audience demographics 
as well as retaining audiences (particularly using ideas 
that came from a recent strategic session).

KPI 2.1. Each year 20% of concerts, events and/
or programs offered in each season will expand 
our product portfolio. 

In progress

Continue to meet with, plan with and work with other 
organisations collaboratively, looking for opportunities 
to perform together.

KPI 2.2 Develop four collaborative projects with 
stakeholders each year.

Achieved

Develop a strategy that enables commissioning and 
co-commissioning of new works each year for our 
core programming and our Learning Program, which 
will include how these commissions are resourced.

KPI 2.3 Commit to two new commissioned works 
each year.

Achieved

Program existing contemporary works each season, 
with an emphasis on those works by Australians (but 
not exclusively Australian).

KPI 2.4 Include at least four contemporary works 
in the programming each year.

Achieved

Plan and implement opportunities for young 
Australian artists to develop their skills in ASO 
programs or with ASO engaged artists.

KPI 2.5  Include at least two opportunities per 
year within the ASO’s Learning Program

Achieved
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3. Access and Relationships Goal
Develop audiences by building great relationships with key stakeholders for core and other activities that reflect the diversity of the 
South Australian marketplace, and deliver programs in Adelaide and regional South Australia both live and through digital platforms.

4. Governance and Financial goal
Diversify the company’s revenue base to support its activities and grow earned income at a rate sufficient to accommodate an 
increase of costs. Demonstrate good governance principles that create value and provide accountability with control systems 
commensurate with the risks involved.  Have a succession plan for key personnel.

StRAtegIeS HOw we wIll MeASURe HOw we ARe gOIng

Develop regional audiences through run out concerts. KPI 3.1 Each year at least two concerts will be 
held in regional centres (e.g. Barossa, South 
Coast).  

Not Achieved

Promote a “Coach and Concert” program to bring 
residents of regional centres to Adelaide concerts.  

KPI 3.2 Provide “Coach and Concert” for at least 
six concerts each year.   

Achieved

Develop younger audiences through use of the ASO 
Live card

KPI 3.3 Sell at least 100 ASO Live Cards each 
season to secondary and tertiary students

Achieved

Develop and implement Learning and Outreach 
Program across the ASO, which is better integrated 
into our core business and resourced across the 
organisation, which encourages participation in and  
attendance at the arts.

KPI 3.4  100 Learning and Outreach events are 
performed each year in schools, community 
spaces, Grainger Studio and other venues both 
in Adelaide and regionally, reaching audiences 
greater than 9000 each year. 

Achieved

Research and plan at least one international tour 
during the period 2015 – 2017

KPI 3.5 One international tour undertaken by 
2017.

In progress

Continue to work with the ABC on live and recorded 
concerts through an effective SLA.  

KPI 3.6 Maintain current levels of broadcasts on 
ABC Classic FM.

Achieved

Develop a digital strategy for webcasts/podcasts and 
on-line Learning programs

KPI 3.7 Develop and begin delivering on the 
strategy by 2015.

In progress

Develop a targeted invitation and participation plan 
for key decision makers at Council, State and Federal 
levels

KPI 3.8 Key politicians attend ASO concerts and 
events on 10 occasions each season.

Not Achieved

StRAtegIeS HOw we wIll MeASURe HOw we ARe gOIng

Grow income at a rate sufficient to accommodate 
cost increases of approximately 4% each year. 

KPI 4.1. Increase the number of tickets sold to 
subscribers by 5% each year. 

Not Achieved

KPI 4.2.  Increase the number of single tickets 
sold by 6% each year.

Not Achieved

KPI 4.3. Grow development income by 3% each 
year. 

Not Achieved

Develop product that will help us reach new and 
diverse audiences; and ensure the longevity of 
these products by appropriate branding:  e.g. ASO 
Spectacular; ASO Movies etc.

KPI 4.4. New product will have new audiences 
equal to 50% of sales. 

Not Achieved

Maintain appropriate reserves to provide financial 
stability.

KPI 4.5. Maintain reserves at 20% of operating 
costs each year.  

Achieved

Board performance and skill set assessments carried 
out annually and new board members sought to bring 
specific skills and expertise.  

KPI 4.6. Board peer reviews completed each year.  In progress

KPI 4.7. Subcommittee of the Board meets 
six monthly to discuss CVs of potential board 
members.  

 In progress

Develop and implement succession plans for key 
personnel

KPI 4.8. A forward plan for key roles is developed.  In progress
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The Directors present their report together with the financial 
statements of the Group comprising of Adelaide Symphony Orchestra 
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 
2013 and the Auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS
Mr Colin Dunsford AM (Chairman)  Director since 19 December 2011

Mr Anthony Steel AM (Deputy Chair) Director since 30 June 2008

Mrs Karen Hannon  Director since 23 October 2006

Mr Robert Pontifex  Director since 23 October 2006

Ms Jillian Attrill  Director since 23 February 2009

Mr Nigel Stevenson  Director since 29 March 2010

Mr Michael Morley  Director since 29 March 2010

Ms Col Eardley  Director since 30 May 2011

Mr Christopher Michelmore  Director since 30 May 2011

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Group during the year was supporting the 
performance of orchestral music. There were no significant changes in 
the nature of the activities of the Group during the year.

STATE OF AFFAIRS
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant impacts to 
the underlying state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the 
financial year under review.

OBJECTIVES
The Group’s continuing objective is to perform the highest standard of 
symphonic music and sustain a dynamic Symphony Orchestra in the 
21st century which will enrich and contribute to the cultural life of all 
South Australians. 

STRATEGIC GOALS FOR ACHIEVING OBJECTIVES 
AND THEIR PERFORMANCE MEASuRES:
The Group has four main strategic goals to achieve its long term 
objectives and it assesses its success (or otherwise) in striving toward 
those objectives by using several key performance measures for each 
strategy.

Strategic goal 1.  
Artform and Quality Goal

Maintain an orchestra that presents an annual broad-ranging 
program of artistically vibrant symphonic music, and that provides 
cost effective pit services to the State Opera of South Australia 
and the Australian Ballet and the Adelaide Festival of Arts. This will 
include innovative programming of new and existing work, and of our 
performances to support professional excellence and artistic vibrancy 
via performance management across the organisation.  

Its eight key performance measures are:

KPI 1 - A new Chief Conductor engaged to begin no later  
  than 2015.

KPI 2 - The costs of travelling 70% of guest artists will be  
  shared with at least one other presenter.

KPI 3 - 20% of concerts will contain new works, or works that  
  are presented in innovative ways, or are large scale 
  productions of works not regularly programmed  
  (e.g. Britten’s War Requiem). 

KPI 4 - 6 new or young artists will be engaged with the ASO  
  each year; 30 hours contact time.

KPI 5 - Artistic peer assessments will return 78% favourable  
  responses each year.

KPI 6 - Surveys will return 78% favourable responses each year.

KPI 7 - Document a performance management process in  
  place by end of 2014 and then continually 
  developed. Outcomes will include professional 
  development recommendations where necessary.

KPI 8 - A new three-year EBA will be negotiated with the players.

Strategic goal 2.  
Expansion and Sector Development Goal

Develop compelling music for our audiences and demonstrate 
commitment to taking a leadership role in developing the arts, the 
artform and artists in South Australia. This will include commissioning 
and presenting new work, and collaborating with other companies, 
artists and schools.

Its five key performance measures are:

KPI 1 - Each year 20% of concerts, events and/or programs  
  offered in each season will expand our product portfolio. 

KPI 2 - Develop four collaborative projects with stakeholders  
  each year.

KPI 3 - Commit to two new commissioned works each year.

KPI 4 - Include at least four contemporary works in the  
  programming each year.

KPI 5 - Include at least two opportunities per year within the  
  ASO’s Learning Program

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra
Holdings Limited 

ACN 122 259 036

Group Annual Financial Report
31 December 2013

AnnUAl FInAnCIAl RePORt
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Strategic goal 3.  
Access and Relationship Goal

Develop audiences by building great relationships with key 
stakeholders for core and other activities that reflect the diversity of 
the South Australian marketplace, and deliver programs in Adelaide 
and regional South Australia both live and through digital platforms.

Its eight performance measures are:

KPI 1 - Each year at least two concerts will be held  
  in regional centres (e.g. Barossa, South Coast).  

KPI 2 - Provide “Coach and Concert” for at least six  
  concerts each year.   

KPI 3 - Sell at least 100 ASO Live Cards each season to  
  secondary and tertiary students

KPI 4 - 100 Learning and Outreach events are performed each  
  year in schools, community spaces, Grainger Studio and  
  other venues both in Adelaide and regionally, reaching  
  audiences greater than 9000 each year. 

KPI 5 - One international tour undertaken by 2017.

KPI 6 - Maintain current levels of broadcasts on ABC Classic FM.

KPI 7 - Develop and begin delivering on the strategy by 2015.

KPI 8 - Key politicians attend ASO concerts and events on 10  
  occasions each season.

Strategic goal 4.  
Governance and Financial Goal

Diversify the company’s revenue base to support its activities and 
grow earned income at a rate sufficient to accommodate an increase 
of costs. Demonstrate good governance principles that create value 
and provide accountability with control systems commensurate with 
the risks involved.  Have a succession plan for key personnel. 

Its eight key performance measures are:

KPI 1 - Increase the number of tickets sold to subscribers  
  by 5% each year. 

KPI 2 - Increase the number of single tickets sold  
  by 6% each year.

KPI 3 - Grow development income by 3% each year. 

KPI 4 - New product will have new audiences equal to  
  50% of sales. 

KPI 5 - Maintain reserves at 20% of operating costs each year.  

KPI 6 - Board peer reviews completed each year. 

KPI 7 - Subcommittee of the Board meets six monthly to  
  discuss CVs of potential board members.  

KPI 8 - A forward plan for key roles is developed.

DIVIDENDS

The declaration of dividend payments is specifically prohibited by the 
Company’s Memorandum of Association; as such no dividends were 
paid or proposed during the financial year.

LIABILITy OF MEMBERS ON WINDING uP

As per the Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited 
Constitution, as extracted below: 

”Clause 4 - Limited Liability

I. The liability of Members of the Company is limited.

II. Every Member of the Company undertakes to contribute to 
the assets of the Company in the event of it being wound up during 
the time that he or she is a Member or within one year afterwards 
for payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company contracted 
before he or she ceased to be a Member and of the costs, charges 
and expenses of winding up and for adjustment of the rights of 
contributories among themselves such amount as may be required  
not exceeding the sum of twenty dollars ($20).”

CuRRENT DIRECTORS’ QuALIFICATIONS and ExPERIENCE

Colin Dunsford AM (Chairman)

Bachelor of Economics, Adelaide

Chartered Accountant and Fellow of the Australian Institute  
of Directors

Experience in external and internal audits, business advisory  
services, risk management and corporate governance

Member of the Audit and Finance Committee, Governance  
Committee and Chair of the Concert Hall Committee

Anthony Steel AM (Deputy Chair)

Masters of Arts (Oxon)

Formerly CEO of the Adelaide Festival Centre Trust and  
Director of the Adelaide Festival of Arts

Experience in Arts management

Member of the Business Committee, Concert Hall  
Committee and Chief Conductor Search Committee

Directors’ Name  Meetings Meetings 
   held while  Attended 
   a Director 
  
Mr Colin Dunsford AM (Chairman) 11 10
Mr Anthony Steel AM (Deputy Chair) 11 10
Mrs Karen Hannon 11 7
Mr Robert Pontifex 11 11
Ms Jillian Attrill 11 10
Mr Nigel Stevenson 11 9
Mr Michael Morley 11 7
Ms Col Eardley 11 10
Mr Christopher Michelmore 11 11
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Karen Hannon

Bachelor of Laws and Graduate Diploma in Legal Practice

President of the SA Residential Tenancies Tribunal  
until March 2013, thereafter retired lawyer

Worked as a legal practitioner for 31 years, in private  
practice, government and in trade unions

Experience in business management, employment law  
and industrial relations

Robert Pontifex

Owner/Manager in events management and marketing businesses

Board memberships in other arts organisations

Jillian Attrill

Bachelor of Arts Degree (Journalism)

Arts & Entertainment Editor, The Advertiser, News Limited 

Former Director of News and Current Affairs, Australian  
Broadcasting Corporation SA

Expertise in media and public service management

Member of the Governance Committee

Nigel Stevenson

Bachelor of Commerce, Fellow of Institute of Chartered  
Accountants in Australia 

Chartered Accountant in professional practice 

Expertise in financial reporting and corporate governance practices 

Chair of Audit and Finance Committee, Member of the  
Business Committee

Michael Morley

M.A (First Class Honours, Auckland); B.Litt. (Oxon)

Emeritus Professor of Drama, Flinders University

Expertise in artistic matters

Col Eardley

Former Executive Director and Senior Member of the  
Executive of Industrial Global Corporations

Board member of other not for profit organisations,  
Deputy Chair of the ECC

Expertise in business performance, improving business  
practices and Governance

Member of the Audit and Finance Committee,  
Governance Committee and Chair of the Business Committee

Christopher Michelmore

BE (Hons), Adelaide

Fellow, Engineers Australia and Member, Institution  
of Structural Engineers, UK

Experience in consulting engineering and general business

Currently a Director of a listed company, operating in the construction 
and resources sector, and a not-for-profit company, operating in aged 
care and retirement living. Syndicate Chair for the CEO Institute. 

Chair of the Governance Committee and member of the Concert  
Hall Committee

AuDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE

The Directors have received a Declaration of Independence from the 
Auditors; this report can be found on page 32.

Signed in accordance with a Resolution of the Directors: 

Colin Dunsford AM                   Nigel Stevenson                                           
Director                         Director

Dated: 31st March, 2014                        Dated: 31st March, 2014
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  Group

 Notes 2013 2012
  $    $   

Continuing operations     
Revenue    

Funding revenue 4 8,051,990 8,013,427
Ticket sales  2,701,088 3,070,149
Sponsorship and donations revenue  1,169,456 1,207,874
Other revenue 5 745,264 808,810
Gain on consolidation of Adelaide Symphony  
Orchestra Foundation Inc. 20 126,551 -

Total revenue  12,794,349 13,100,260
    
Less :    
Expenses    

Employee expenses  8,907,509 9,059,582
Artist fees and expenses  1,038,303 1,247,536
Marketing expenses  1,040,336 911,116
Production expenses  797,592 912,168
Professional services  501,026 449,377
Depreciation and amortisation 7 76,002 78,268
Other expenses  1,048,790 1,127,849

Total expenses  13,409,558 13,785,896
    
Results from operating activities  (615,209) (685,636)
    
 
Net finance income 6 446,427 492,616
    
Loss for the period  (168,782) (193,020)
    
Other comprehensive income     
    
 
Net change in fair value of equity investments 9 488,407 427,922
Realised net gain/ (loss) on disposal of equity investments  16,844 (26,584)

Other comprehensive income for the period  505,251 401,338
    
 
Total comprehensive income for the period  336,469 208,318
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  Group
 Notes 2013 2012
  $              $   

Assets    
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 15 1,852,762 2,430,882
Trade and other receivables 8 299,937 558,731
Prepayments  331,042 430,943
Other financial assets 9 1,016,644 973,944

Total current assets  3,500,385 4,394,500
    
 
Non-current assets    

Prepayments  11,253 11,792
Property, plant and equipment  444,767 386,374
Other financial assets 9 4,148,792 3,648,665

Total non-current assets  4,604,812 4,046,831
Total assets  8,105,197 8,441,331
    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 10 722,360 1,023,018
Prepaid revenue 11 881,925 1,020,373
Non-interest bearing loans & borrowings 12 332,104 528,490
Provisions 13 2,012,709 1,946,345

Total current liabilities  3,949,098 4,518,226
    
Non-current liabilities    

Non-interest bearing loans & borrowings 12 766,000 866,000
Provisions 13 222,462 225,937

Total non-current liabilities  988,462 1,091,937
Total liabilities  4,937,560 5,610,163
    
Net assets  3,167,637 2,831,168
    
Shareholder’s equity    

Reserves 14 644,239 204,796
Retained earnings 19 2,523,398 2,626,372

Total shareholder’s equity  3,167,637 2,831,168
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  Group

 Fair Value Retained Total
 reserve earnings  equity  
 $ $ $
    

As at 1 January 2012 (312,096) 2,934,946 2,622,850

Net loss for the year - (193,020) (193,020)

 Other comprehensive income    

Net change in fair value of equity investments 427,922 - 427,922

Realised net gain/(loss)  

on disposal of equity investments 88,970 (115,554) (26,584)

Total other comprehensive income 516,892 (115,554) 401,338

Total comprehensive income for the period 516,892 (308,574) 208,318

As at 31 December 2012 204,796 2,626,372 2,831,168

     

 

As at 31 December 2012 204,796 2,626,372 2,831,168

Net loss for the year - (168,782) (168,782)

 Other comprehensive income    

Net change in fair value of equity investments 488,407 - 488,407

Realised net gain/(loss)  

on disposal of equity investments (48,964) 65,808 16,844

Total other comprehensive income 439,443 65,808 505,251

Total comprehensive income for the period 439,443 (102,974) 336,469

As at 31 December 2013 644,239 2,523,398 3,167,637

     
 

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited  Group Annual Financial Report 31 December 2013  ACN 122 259 036



annual financial report cashflow statement for year ended 31 December 2013

The cashflow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 20 to 30.

19ADELAIDE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA ANNUAL REPORT 2013

  Group

 Notes 2013 2012
  $              $   

Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash receipts in the course of operations  4,300,959 4,676,980
Cash payments in the course of operations  (13,492,247) (13,271,626)
Grants received from government funding bodies  8,138,744 7,839,777

Net cash (used in) operating activities 15b ( 1,052,546) (754,869)
    
 
Cash flows from investing activities    

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant & equipment  4,000 -
Proceeds on disposal of investment in equities  457,300 687,550
Interest received  188,192 247,197
Dividend received  280,433 266,292
Cash added through consolidation of  
Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Foundation Inc  126,551 -
Term deposit - part Reserves Incentive Scheme funds  (42,701) (50,136)
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (134,395) (61,823)
Payments for purchase for investments in equities  (452,176) (696,551)

Net cash flows provided by investing activities  427,204  392,529 
 
Cash flows from financing activities    

Advance received from Federal and  
State Government - Strategic Review  47,222 -
 Advance received from State Government - Bradman Commission -  33,000

Net cash flows from financing activities  47,222  33,000
    
 
Net (decrease) in cash held  ( 578,120) (329,340)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  2,430,882  2,760,222

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15a          1,852,762  2,430,882
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1. Corporate information
The Group financial report of Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings 
Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 
December 2013 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 
Resolution of the Directors on 31 March 2014.

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited is a not-for-profit 
company limited by guarantee and incorporated in Australia.

 Controlled entities Ownership %  2013   2012
 Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited.   100%   100%
 Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Foundation Inc.   100%      -

The Company is the holder of 213,002 ordinary shares in Adelaide 
Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited and is entitled to one vote per share 
at shareholders’ meetings. 

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Foundation Incorporated:

On the 25th March 2013, the Directors of Adelaide Symphony 
Orchestra Holdings Limited passed a resolution to appoint all of its 
current Directors to become Members of the Adelaide Symphony 
Orchestra Foundation Incorporated. This resolution is in accordance 
with the Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Foundation Incorporated’s 
constitution and the effect was to establish control of the organisation.

In the event of winding up of the Company and / or its subsidiaries 
(Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited and / or Adelaide 
Symphony Orchestra Foundation Inc.), and after creditors’ legitimate 
claims have been satisfied from any proceeds from liquidation, 
according to the respective constitutions, the remainder will 
be distributed to another registered not-for-profit entity, hence 
shareholders will not be able to participate in those proceeds from 
liquidation.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group  
are described in the Directors’ Report on page 13.

2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies
a) Basis of preparation 
The financial report has been prepared as a general purpose financial 
report and complies with the requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including 
Australian interpretations) - Reduced Disclosure Requirements. The 
financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
available for sale financial assets at fair value. The financial report is 
presented in Australian dollars. 

(b) Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial report of the Group is a Tier 2 general 
purpose financial statement report which has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements (AASSB - RDRs) (including Australian 
Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.

(c) use of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods 
affected.

(d) Basis of consolidation 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when 
the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 
control, potential voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken 
into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date the control 
commences until the date the control ceases. The accounting policies 
of the subsidiaries have changed when necessary to align them with 
the policies adopted by the Group.

e) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable.  Amounts disclosed are net of goods and services tax 
(GST).  Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as 
follows:

Funding revenue  
Funding revenue is received from the Australia Council for the Arts 
(as represented by the Major Performing Arts Board) and the State 
Government of South Australia, through Arts SA. Funding is received 
based on payment schedules contained in a funding agreement 
between the funding bodies and Adelaide Symphony Orchestra 
Holdings Limited and is recognised in the calendar year for which it is 
intended under the terms of the agreement.

Ticket Sales 
Revenue from ticket sales is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income at the time of concert performance. Revenue 
from ticket sales in respect of productions not yet performed is 
included in the Statement of Financial Position as prepaid ticket sales 
under the Current Liabilities heading “Prepaid revenue”.

Sponsorship and Donations revenue

Sponsorship 
Sponsorship commitments are brought to account as income in the 
year in which sponsorship benefits are bestowed. Any amounts not 
bestowed but received are included in the Statement of Financial 
Position under the Current liabilities heading “Prepaid revenue”.

Donations 
Donations are brought to account as received unless the Group 
receives a multi-year pledge as a lump sum, in which case the 
donation will be brought to account as revenue in accordance with the 
agreement with the pledge donor.

Interest income 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised as it is declared and is grossed up to 
include any relevant Franking Credits.

f) Taxation and Goods and Services Tax 
The Company is exempt from income tax and capital gains tax 
by virtue of being a cultural organisation established for the 

encouragement of music and a charitable institution. 

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited  Group Annual Financial Report 31 December 2013  ACN 122 259 036



annual financial report notes and forming part of the financial statements for year ended 31 December 2013

21ADELAIDE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 

of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 

incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). 

In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost 

of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 

included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 

the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross 

basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and 

financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 

are classified as operating cash flows.

g) Acquisitions of assets 

Acquired assets are accounted for at cost. Cost is measured as the 

fair value of assets given or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 

of exchange plus cost directly attributable to the acquisition.

h) Property, plant and equipment 

All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 

the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 

recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 

flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be reliably measured.  

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are 

incurred.

Depreciation and amortisation 

Items of plant and equipment, leasehold improvements, relocation 

costs, computer and office equipment, instruments, furniture and 

fittings and leased assets are depreciated using the straight-line 

method over their estimated useful lives.

The depreciation rates used for each class of asset in the current and 

prior year are as follows:

Asset class Depreciation rates

Leasehold improvements 10%

Relocation costs 10%

Plant & equipment 7.5% - 50%

Instruments 6.5% - 20% 

Furniture & fittings 7.5%-20%

Leased assets 22.5%

Computer & office equipment 20% - 33.3%

Complex assets 

Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of 

components that have different useful lives are accounted for as 

separate assets. The components may be replaced during the useful 

life of the complex asset.

Subsequent additional costs  

Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent to 

initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future 

economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed performance 

of the asset, will flow to the Group in future years. Where these 

costs represent separate components of a complex asset, they are 

accounted for as separate assets and are separately depreciated over 

their useful lives. 

Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment that do not meet the 

criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred.

Leased Assets 

Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and 

benefits of ownership are classified as finance leases. Other leases are 

classified as operating leases.  

Finance Leases 

Finance leases are capitalised.  A lease asset and a lease liability 

equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments are 

recorded at the inception of the lease. Lease liabilities are reduced 

by repayments of principal. The interest components of the lease 

payments are expensed. Contingent rentals are expensed as incurred.  

Operating Leases 

Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight-

line basis over the term of the lease, except where an alternative basis 

is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the 

leased property.

i) Impairment 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial 

asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that 

one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future 

cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at 

amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 

amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss 

in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by 

reference to its fair value.

Individual significant financial assets are tested for impairment on 

an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed 

collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative 

net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is 

recognised in equity.

j) Accounts payable 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for 

goods or services received, whether or not billed to the Group.  

Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 30 days. 

k) Employee benefits 

Wages, salaries and annual leave 

The provisions for employee benefits in respect of wages, salaries 

and annual leave represent the amount which the Group has a 

present obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services provided 

up to the balance date. The provisions have been calculated at 

undiscounted amounts based on wage and salary rates which are 

expected to be paid when the liability is settled and include related 

on-costs.
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Long service leave 

The long service leave liability represents the present value of the 

estimated future cash outflows to be made by the employer resulting 

from employees’ services provided up to the balance date.

Liabilities for employee benefits which are not expected to be settled 

within twelve months are discounted using the rates attaching to 

national government securities at balance date which most closely 

match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.

In determining the liability for employee benefits, consideration is 

given to future increases in wage and salary rates, and the Group’s 

experience with staff departures. Related on-costs have also been 

included in the liability.

Employee loans 

Some employees are lent monies which are used in turn to purchase 

or refurbish musical instruments. These loans are secured by the 

instruments themselves. Amounts outstanding are recouped over time 

through contributions withheld from musicians’ salaries. 

Superannuation plans 

The Group contributes to several defined-contribution superannuation 

plans. Employer contributions in relation to the year ended 31 

December 2013 have been expensed against income. A defined 

contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an 

entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no 

legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 

for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an 

employee expense in the profit or loss when they are due. Prepaid 

contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash 

refund or reduction in future payments is available.

l) Investments and other financial assets 

The Group’s investments include equity instruments that do not have 

a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot 

be reliably measured. Accordingly, those investments are measured at 

cost or directors’ valuation.

m) Segment reporting 

The Group operates in one segment (live orchestral performances) in 

one geographical region (Australia).

n) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held 

at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash which are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value.

o) Available-for-sale financial assets 

The Group’s investments in equity securities and certain debt 

securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and 

changes are recognised directly in a separate component of equity. 

When an investment is derecognised, the respective gain or loss in 

equity is adjusted to the extent there was a fair value adjustment in the 

fair value reserve with any excess transferred to retained earnings.

p) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are carried at amounts due. The collectability of 

debts is assessed at balance date and specific provision is made for 

any doubtful accounts.

q) Non-derivative financial assets existing on or acquired  

after 1 January 2010 

The classification and measurement model for financial assets existing 

on or acquired after 1 January 2010, the date the Group adopted 

AASB 9, is outlined below. The accounting policy with respect to 

recognition and de-recognition for these instruments is the same as 

for those financial assets disposed of prior to 1 January 2010.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if the following 

conditions are met:

• the objective of the Group’s business model is to hold the 

asset to collect contractual cash flows;

• the contractual cash flows give rise, on specified dates, to 

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest  

on the principal outstanding; and

• the group does not irrevocably elect at initial recognition to 

measure the instrument at fair value through profit or loss to 

minimise an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost instruments are recognised initially at fair value 

plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 

to initial recognition the carrying amount of amortised cost 

instruments is determined using the effective interest method,  

less any impairment losses.

(ii) Financial assets at fair value 

At initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable 

election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to recognise the 

change in fair value of investments in equity instruments in other 

comprehensive income. This election is only permitted for equity 

instruments that are not held for trading purposes.

These instruments are initially recognised at fair value. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value 

and changes therein are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve. When 

an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss is 

transferred directly to retained earnings and is not recognised in 

profit or loss.

Dividends or other distributions received from these investments 

are still recognised in profit or loss as part of finance income.
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3. Economic dependency
In the current year, $8,051,990 of the Group’s revenue was provided by Federal and State Governments, via the Australia Council for the Arts 

and Arts SA. As such, the Group is economically dependent on these entities for the provision of funding in order for the Group to provide 

its services to the community and continue as a going concern. The Group have signed a Tripartite Funding Agreement 2012 to 2014 from 

the Federal and State Governments, via the Australia Council for the Arts and Arts SA, confirming funding to the end of 2014, subject to the 

Group continuing to meet the requirements of the tripartite funding agreement. The Group is in receipt of a letter from the Federal and State 

Governments, via the Australia Council for the Arts and Arts SA, confirming funding to the end of 2015 under the same terms and conditions as 

the afore mentioned 2012 to 14 Tripartite Agreement.

4. Funding revenue

5. Other revenue

These agreements were executed between the Federal and State Governments, via the Australia Council for the Arts and Arts SA and 

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited.

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited has passed appropriate resolutions and signed a funding transfer agreement with Adelaide 

Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited to enable effective transfer of all funding from the Australia Council for the Arts and Arts SA to the trading 

entity, being Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited, immediately upon receipt. This funding transfer agreement is applicable for the 

current three year contract (1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014) for base funding.

The 2013 funding has been expended in accordance with the 2012 to 2014 Tripartite Funding Agreement.

The Group has a “Reserves policy”, which seeks to achieve a minimum level of reserves which is 20% of costs. The policy includes strategies 

to achieve this level of reserves, including an investment policy and a policy on accessing the reserves. In 2013 the Group has achieved 

23.6% Reserves to Costs (2012: 20.5%).

annual financial report notes and forming part of the financial statements for year ended 31 December 2013

 Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
 
Australia Council for the Arts 6,506,268 6,353,777
Arts SA 1,545,722 1,659,650

Total funding revenue 8,051,990 8,013,427

       Group
 2013  2012
 $ $
 
Orchestral hire income 506,242  584,383  
Other income 233,468  225,165 
Net profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,000  (738) 
Other income - insurance claim 1,554 -
Total other revenue 745,264  808,810 
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6. Finance income and finance expenses

  Group
 2013  2012
Recognised in profit or loss $ $
Finance income   

Interest income 188,192  247,197 
Dividend income 280,433  266,292 

Finance income 468,625  513,489 
   
Less Finance expenses   

Finance costs 22,198  20,804 
Statutory charges - 69

Financial expenses 22,198  20,873 
Net finance income 446,427  492,616 

7. Other expense items
The net loss from ordinary activities has been arrived at after charging the following items:

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
Depreciation:   

Computers & office equipment 14,878  15,583 
Furniture & fittings 3,519  3,391 
Plant, instruments, equipment & motor vehicles 51,480  51,254 
Leasehold improvements 6,125  8,040 

 76,002  78,268 

8. Trade and other receivables

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
Current  

Trade debtors 134,637  301,908 
Other receivables     105,163  156,684 
Accrued income  60,137  100,139 

Total current receivables 299,937  558,731 

Total trade and other receivables     299,937  558,731 
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9. Other financial assets

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
Current 

Term deposit - Reserves Incentive Scheme 1,016,644 973,943
Current other financial assets 1,016,644 973,943
    
Non-current  

Unlisted investment at Directors’ valuation for  
“In the Chair Pty Ltd” at 1 January 2 2

Unlisted investments as at 31 December at Directors’ valuation 2 2

Fair value of listed investments as at 1 January 3,648,663 3,238,323
Purchases during the year at cost 452,176 696,552
Less disposals at cost or fair value (440,456) (714,134)
Net change to fair value of investments 488,407 427,922

Fair value of listed investments as at 31 December 4,148,790 3,648,663
Non-current other financial assets 4,148,792 3,648,665

10. Trade and other payables

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $

Other creditors and accruals 343,164  780,478
Trade creditors 379,196  242,540 
Total trade and other payables 722,360  1,023,018 

11. Prepaid revenue

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $

Prepaid ticket sales 790,070  865,348 
Prepaid sponsorships 8,500  108,708
Prepaid State Government Bradman commission funding 33,000  33,000
Prepaid multi-year Donation pledge 22,500 - 
Prepaid other 27,855 13,317 

Total prepaid revenue 881,925  1,020,373 

In 2012, the company received an Advance of $33,000 to commission a symphonic composition for completion by 
November 2014 as part of the State Government’s recognition of Sir Donald Bradman, AC. 
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The Reserve Incentive Scheme loan (RIS) is an initiative of the Federal and State Governments. The intention is to 
provide additional long term “reserves” to eligible Arts companies. During 2008 the Group was successful in its 
application for the funds under this scheme. The scheme is administered under a separate tripartite funding agreement, 
with the total funding amount capped at a predetermined amount. The fund is made up of equal contributions of 
$383,000 from the three participating parties to the RIS agreement totalling $1,149,000 and is to be held in escrow until 
15 years after the final receipt from the Governments. 

The Group received the last payment of a combined $766,000 ($383,000 each) from the State and Federal Governments 
in October 2008. The two contributions from the State and Federal Government are treated as non-current loans until 
the conclusion of the escrow period of 15 years. At the end of the 15 year escrow period the Group is entitled to convert 
the entire non-current liability to equity.

Under the RIS agreement the Group may utilise some or all of the funds for specific purposes but if the drawdown is 
before the escrow period ceases then formal repayment arrangements must be in place to restore the RIS fund.

The Loss of Proficiency and restructuring fund (LOP) derived from the Strong Report – “A NEW ERA – Orchestra Review 
Report 2005” commissioned by both the Federal and State Governments. In 2010 the Group and the Federal and State 
Governments signed a separate agreement titled “Loss of Proficiency Deed of Escrow Agreement” to deposit these 
funds with the Group. This agreement includes the terms and conditions on the application of the funds and the process 
by which the company can access those funds, if appropriate.  The term of the agreement concludes 31 December 
2014.

Both the RIS and LOP funds held in escrow have not been used to secure any other liabilities.

The Advance from Arts SA – Operational funding, represents the South Australian Government’s contribution derived out 
of the adopted recommendations of the Strong Report - “A NEW ERA – Orchestras Review Report 2005” commissioned 
by both the Federal and State Governments. The terms of this advance include a provision that after the implementation 
of the agreed recommendations, any unused funds are returned to the South Australian Government.

In 2008 Arts SA, for the State Government, and Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd entered into a new funding 
agreement in which $1.4 million was advanced to extend the aforementioned “Orchestra Review” from 1 July 2009 to 30 
June 2013. Over this period, Arts SA authorised annual amounts to be transferred from this Advance to funding revenue 
to be used in the general operation of the business.

In discussions regarding the 2012 to 2014 Tripartite Agreement and the Advance from Arts SA; Arts SA indicated to the 
Group that the cash portion of the 2013 State funding will be reduced by approximately $287,000 over 2 calendar years 
in lieu of interest earned on the aforementioned Advance.

The Advance from Arts SA – ANZAC Requiem Commission. The company has received an Advance of $100,000 to 
commission a symphonic composition for completion in early 2015 as part of the State Government’s recognition of the 
ANZAC alliance and the centenary of the landing at Gallipoli. 

annual financial report notes and forming part of the financial statements for year ended 31 December 2013

12. Non interest-bearing loans & borrowings

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
Current    
Loss of proficiency funds held in escrow  232,104  375,369
Advance from Arts SA - Operational funding - 153,121 
Advance from Arts SA - ANZAC Requiem commission             100,000  - 

 332,104  528,490 

Non-current    
Reserve incentive scheme loan held in escrow 766,000  766,000
Advance from Arts SA - ANZAC Requiem commission - 100,000 
 766,000  866,000 
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Aggregate employee benefits presented above include on-costs. The present values of employee benefits not expected to be settled within 
twelve months of balance date have been calculated using the following weighted averages:

At year-end, the Group employed 91 (2012: 94) full-time equivalent employees.

Employees contributed to the MEDIA Super and several other defined-contribution schemes. Employer contributions amounting to  
$996,725 (2012: $959,440) for the Group in relation to these schemes have been expensed in these financial statements.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments until the investment is disposed.

annual financial report notes and forming part of the financial statements for year ended 31 December 2013

13. Provisions

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
Current    
Employee entitlements - Annual leave 280,178  314,871 
Employee entitlements - Long service leave 1,732,531  1,631,474 

 2,012,709  1,946,345 
Non-current   
Make good provision on leasehold 50,000  50,000 
Employee entitlements - Long service leave 172,462  175,937

 222,462  225,937

14. Reserves

  Group
 Fair value Total  
 reserve reserves
 $ $
Accumulated funds at:      
1st January 2013 204,796 204,796
Net Loss on disposal of equities (48,964) (48,964)
Net change in fair value of equity investments 488,407 488,407
Net change in reserves for year 439,443 439,443

At 31st December 2013 644,239 644,239

 2013 2012
 $ $
Assumed rate of increase in wage and salary rates 2.2% 3.0% 
Average Discount rate 2.2% 2.13%
Settlement term 10 years  10 years
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15. Cash flow statement

a) Reconciliation of Cash    
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand and at bank 
and short-term deposits at call. Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the financial 
year as shown in the cash flow statement are as follows: 
 
  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $

Cash at bank 1,852,762 2,430,882
  
b) Reconciliation of net profit to net cash provided by    
(used in) operating activities  

Loss from ordinary activities (168,782) (193,020)
(Profit) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4,000) 737

Add/ (deduct) adjustments for:   
Interest received (188,192) (247,197)
Dividend received (280,433) (266,292)
Cash expended from Advance received from Federal and  
State Government - Strategic Review (47,222) -
Non-cash items:   
Depreciation and amortisation 76,002 78,268
Gain on consolidation of Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Foundation Inc (126,551) -

Net cash used in operating activities  (739,178) (627,504)
before change in assets and liabilities    
  
Changes in assets & liabilities   

Decrease / (increase)  in receivables 258,794 (80,400)
Decrease / (increase) in other assets 100,440 (126,421)
Increase / (decrease) in payables (300,658) 348,392
(Decrease) in prepaid revenue (138,448) (63,460)
(Decrease) in Government Advances (296,386) (440,380)
Increase in provisions 62,890 234,904

Changes in assets & liabilities (313,368) (127,365)
   
Net cash used in operating activities (1,052,546) (754,869)

16. Remuneration of key management personnel

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
Short-term (Cash component) 724,098 690,961
Short-term (Non-cash component – Gross Fringe Benefit Value) 47,207 81,531
Post-employment – Employer super contribution 74,650 72,413

Total 845,955 844,905

Directors receive no payments for their service as Directors.

Remuneration of key management personnel is as follows:
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17. Related parties

18. Expenditure commitments

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $
Operating lease (non-cancellable)   
Not later than one year 325,721 325,721
Later than one year and not later than five years 597,210 922,931

 922,931 1,248,652
   
Artist fees and Venue hire contracted for but not provided for and payable  
Not later than one year 1,087,378 1,224,556
Later than one year and not later than five years - -
Later than five years - -

 1,087,378 1,224,556

19. Retained earnings

  Group
 2013 2012
 $ $

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year 2,626,372  2,934,946

Loss for the year (168,782)  (193,020) 

Realised net gain/(loss) on disposal of equity investments 65,808  (115,554) 

Retained earnings at the end of the year 2,523,398  2,626,372 

Directors 

The names of each person holding the position of director of Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited during the financial year are 
listed on page 13 in the Directors’ Report. Unless otherwise stated in the Directors’ Report, the directors have been in office for the financial 
year.

No Director has entered into a material contract with the Group since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material 
contracts involving directors’ interests existing at year end.

The Group has operating leases for office accommodation.
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20. Control of subsidiary

21. Parent entity disclosures

22. Additional disclosure

On 25th March 2013, the Directors of the Company passed a resolution to appoint all current Directors of the Company as Members of the 
Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Foundation Incorporated. This resolution is in accordance with the Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Foundation 
Incorporated’s constitution and the effect was to establish control of the organisation.

As a result of this resolution, a gain on consolidation of $126,551 was recorded and relates to the value of the Foundation’s net assets 
controlled as at 25th March 2013.

The main objective of the Foundation are to raise funds and attract gifts from the public to be applied for the benefit of the Adelaide 
Symphony Orchestra, including through the commissioning of new works and purchase of capital items.

Subsidiary’s assets and liabilities controlled by Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Ltd:

As at, and throughout, the financial year ending 31 December 2013 the parent entity of the Group was Adelaide Symphony 
Orchestra Holdings Limited

Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Australia and having its 
principal place of business and registered office at:

91 Hindley Street, 
Adelaide 
South Australia, 5000.

 25th March 2013

 $

Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 126,551

Total assets 126,551   

 

Less liabilities 

Total liabilities -

Net assets controlled 126,551

 2013 2012

 $ $

Result of parent entity    

Loss for the period - (69)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (69)

    

Financial position of parent entity at year end    

Non-current assets 10 10

Total assets 10 10

Current liabilities 1,562 1,562

Total liabilities 1,562 1,562

Net liabilities (1,552) (1,552)

    

Total shareholder deficiency of parent entity comprising of:    

Accumulated losses (1,552) (1,552)

Total shareholder deficiency (1,552) (1,552)
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 In the opinion of the Directors of Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited:
 

(a) the consolidated financial statements and notes, set out on pages 13 to 30,  
  are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013  
 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements  
 and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts  
  as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a Resolution of the Directors:

Colin Dunsford AM   Nigel Stevenson
Director      Director

Adelaide, dated 31st March, 2014
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VIOLINS 
Natsuko Yoshimoto** (Concertmaster)
MUSICAL CHAIR SPONSORED BY ASO CHAIR  
    OF THE BOARD COLIN DUNSFORD AM & LIB DUNSFORD

Ike See** (Associate Concertmaster) 
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED IN MEMORY  
   OF MARIA & JOHANN BASKA

Shirin Lim* (Principal 1st Violin)
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   DR GEORGETTE STRAZNICKY

Michael Milton** (Principal 2nd Violin)
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY THE FRIENDS OF THE ASO

Lachlan Bramble (AP) 
(Associate Principal 2nd Violin)
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   ROBERT & DEBORAH PONTIFEX

Janet Anderson
Ann Axelby
Minas Berberyan
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY MERRY WICKES

Gillian Braithwaite 
Julia Brittain
Hilary Bruer
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY MARION WELLS

Elizabeth Collins 
Jane Collins 
Alison Heike
Danielle Jaquillard 
Alexis Milton
Jennifer Newman 
Julie Newman 
Emma Perkins
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY PETER & PAMELA MCKEE

Alexander Permezel 
Judith Polain 
Marie-Louise Slaytor 
Kemeri Spurr

VIOLAS 
Juris Ezergailis**
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED  
   IN THE MEMORY OF MRS JJ HOLDEN

Imants Larsens (AP)
Martin Butler
Lesley Cockram
Anna Hansen
Rosi McGowran
Carolyn Mooz
Michael Robertson
Cecily Satchell

CELLOS 
Janis Laurs** (Principal)
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED  
   BY THE LATVIAN ASSOCIATION OF SA

Ewen Bramble (AP)
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY BARBARA MELLOR

Sarah Denbigh
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY AN ANONYMOUS DONOR

Christopher Handley 
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   JOHANNA AND TERRY MCGUIRK

Sherrilyn Handley
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   JOHANNA AND TERRY MCGUIRK

Gemma Phillips
David Sharp
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY AILEEN CONNON AM

Cameron Waters

DOuBLE BASSES 
David Schilling**
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY MRS MAUREEN AKKERMANS

Young-Hee Chan (AP)
Jacky Chang 
Harley Gray
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY BOB CROSER

Belinda Kendall-Smith
David Phillips 
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED IN THANKS  
   OF DAVID’S FATHER FOR IMPROVING MY SIGHT – BETSY

FLuTES 
Geoffrey Collins**
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY PAULINE MENZ

Lisa Gill

PICCOLO
Julia Grenfell *
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY CHRIS & JULIE MICHELMORE
 
OBOES 
Celia Craig**
MUSICAL CHAIR SPONSORED BY  
   PENELOPE & GEOFFREY HACKETT-JONES

Renae Stavely

COR ANGLAIS
Peter Duggan*
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY DR JB ROBINSON

CLARINETS 
Dean Newcomb** 
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   ROYAL OVER-SEAS LEAGUE SA INC

Darren Skelton

E FLAT CLARINETS 
Darren Skelton* 

BASS CLARINET
Mitchell Berick*
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   NIGEL STEVENSON & GLENN BALL

BASSOONS 
Mark Gaydon **
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY PAMELA YULE

Leah Stephenson 
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY LIZ AMPT

CONTRA BASSOON
Jackie Hansen*
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   NORMAN ETHERINGTON & PEGGY BROCK

HORNS 
Vacancy**
Sarah Barrett (AP)
Bryan Griffiths 
Philip Hall*
Philip Paine

TRuMPETS 
Matt Dempsey**
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY R & P CHEESMAN

Martin Phillipson (AP)
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY RICK ALLERT AO

Gregory Frick
Jim Dempsey

TROMBONES 
Cameron Malouf**
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED VIRGINIA WECKERT  
   & CHARLES MELTON OF CHARLES MELTON WINES 

Ian Denbigh

BASS TROMBONE
Howard Parkinson*

TuBA 
Peter Whish-Wilson*
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY  
   OLLIE CLARK AM & JOAN CLARK

TIMPANI 
Robert Hutcheson*

PERCuSSION 
Steven Peterka**
MUSICAL CHAIR SUPPORTED BY FRIENDS OF THE ASO

Gregory Rush

HARP 
Suzanne Handel*

Board Members
Colin Dunsford AM (Chair)
Anthony Steel AM (Deputy Chair)
Jillian Attrill
Col Eardley
Karen Hannon
Chris Michelmore
Michael Morley
Robert Pontifex
Nigel Stevenson
 
MANAGEMENT
 
Executive
Vincent Ciccarello - Chief Executive
Margie Corston - Executive Assistant

Artistic
Simon Lord - Director, Artistic Planning
Sophie Emery - Artistic Administrator
Emily Gann - Learning & Outreach Coordinator

Finance and HR
Bruce Bettcher - Business & Finance Manager
Louise Williams – Manager, People & Culture
Karin Juhl - Accounts/Box Office Coordinator
Sarah McBride - Payroll
Emma Wight – Receptionist/Administrative Assistant

Operations
Heikki Mohell - Director of Operations and Commercial
Karen Frost - Orchestra Manager
Kingsley Schmidtke - Venue/Production Supervisor
Bruce Stewart - Librarian
David Khafagi - Operations Assistant

Marketing and Development
Paola Niscioli - General Manager,  
 Marketing & Development
Annika Stennert - Marketing Coordinator
Kate Sewell - Publicist

Development
Vicky Lekis - Director of Development
Tom Bastians - Development Assistant

Former employees
Barbara George
Paul Blackman
Matthew Madden
 
Friends of the ASO, Executive Committee
Elizabeth Bowen - President
Alyson Morrison - Past President
Alison Campbell - Vice President
Honora Griffith - Honorary Secretary
John Gell - Assistant Secretary/ Membership
Judy Birze - Treasurer

BOARd & MAnAgeMent

** denotes Section Leader

(AP) denotes Associate Principal

* denotes Principal Player

2013 MUSICIAnS
CHIEF CONDuCTOR  
& MuSIC DIRECTOR
Arvo Volmer
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DIAMOND PATRON 
($25,000+)
Friends of the Adelaide  
 Symphony Orchestra
Mr & Mrs Anthony  
 & Margaret Gerard
Ms Merry Wickes

PLATINuM PATRON 
($10,000 - $24,999)
Rymill House    
 Foundation
Plus 2 anonymous 
patrons

GOLD PATRON ($5,000 
- $9,999)
Mr & Mrs Keith & Sue   
 Langley & the  
 Macquarie Group   
 Foundation
Peter & Pamela McKee
Mrs Diana McLaurin
Mrs Barbara Mellor
San Remo Macaroni   
 Company Pty Ltd
Mr & Mrs Norman  
 & Carol Schueler

SILVER PATRON  
($2,500 - $4,999)
Mrs Maureen   
 Akkermans
Ms Liz Ampt
R & P Cheesman
Dr Aileen F Connon AM
Mr Bob Croser
Legh & Helen Davis
Mr Colin Dunsford AM  
 & Mrs Lib Dunsford
Norman Etherington  
 & Peggy Brock
Mr Donald Scott George
Mrs Jacqelyn Green
Geoffrey & Penelope   
 Hackett-Jones
Mr & Mrs Simon  
 & Sue Hatcher
Mr Robert Kenrick
Mrs Pauline Menz
Mr & Mrs Chris &  
 Julie Michelmore
Robert &  
 Deborah Pontifex
Dr Ben Robinson
Royal Overseas   
 League South  
 Australia Incorporated
Mr Nigel Stevenson  
 & Mr Glenn Ball
Dr Georgette Straznicky
Virginia Weckert &  
 Charles Melton of  
 Charles Melton Wines
Mrs M W Wells
Dr Betsy Williams  
 & Mr Oakley Dyer
Mrs Pamela Yule
Plus 2 anonymous 
patrons

MAESTRO PATRON 
($1,000 - $2,499)
ASO as winner of   
 Adelaide Critics Circle  
 ACColade
Mr Neil Arnold
Dr Margaret Arstall
Prof Andrew & Mrs   
 Elizabeth Bersten
Mrs Susan Bethune
 

The Hon D J  
 & Mrs E M Bleby
Dianne & Felix Bochner
Mr Rob Broughton
Mr Ollie Clark AM  
 & Mrs Joan Clark
Peter & Helen -  
 Bilpin NSW
Mrs Patricia Cohen
Mrs Jane Doyle
Mrs Lorraine   
 Drogemuller
Mr L J Emmett
Elizabeth Flint OAM
L L & S J Greenslade
Mr P R Griffiths
Dr Robert Hecker
Mr Volker Hirsinger
Dr I Klepper
Mr Ian Kowalick AM  
 & Mrs Helen Kowalick
Mrs Joan Lyons
Mrs Skye McGregor
Dr & Mrs Neil  
 & Fay McIntosh
Mr & Mrs Peter  
 & Rosalind Neale
Ms Jocelyn Parsons
Mr Martin Penhale
Dr Don & Mrs  
 Chris Perriam
Mr & Mrs Andrew  
 & Gayle Robertson
Mr Richard Ryan AO  
 & Mrs Trish Ryan
Mr Roger Salkeld
Larry & Maria Scott
Mr & Mrs H W Short
Mr Ron Sinclair
Dr & Mrs Nigel &  
 Chris Steele-Scott   
 OAM
Ms Guila Tiver
Dr Richard & Mrs  
 Gweneth Willing
Plus 8 anonymous 
patrons

SOLOIST PATRON  
($500 - $999)
Aldridge Family   
 Endowment
Mr & Mrs David  
 & Elaine Annear
Dr E Atkinson  
 & Mr J Hardy
Ms Dora Avella-O’Brien
Barbara Bahlin
Mr John Baker
Mr & Mrs R & SE Bartz
Liz & Mike Bowen
Mr Vincent Ciccarello
Mrs Josephine Cooper
Tony & Rachel Davidson
Mr Bruce Debelle AO
Dr C F A Dibden
Mrs A E Dow
Dr Laurence J Ferguson
Mr & Mrs Jiri  
 & Pamela Fiala
Mr & Mrs Andrew  
 & Helen Giles
Dr Noel & Mrs  
 Janet Grieve
Mrs Eleanor Handreck
Mr & Mrs Michael  
 & Stacy Hill Smith
Dr Douglas  
 & Mrs Tiiu Hoile

FR & VG Horwood
Dr Wilfrid Jaksic
Dr Helen James
Mrs M Janzow
Mr & Mrs G & L Jaunay
Ms Elizabeth Keam AM
Mrs Beth Lewis
Lodge Thespian,  
 No. 195 Inc
Mr Peter McBride
Ms Fiona Morgan
Dr & Mrs David  
 & Kerrell Morris
Dr Kenneth and  
 Dr Glenys O’Brien
Dr John Overton
Mr Tom F Pearce
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Jenny Pike
J M Prosser
Mrs Esme Proudman
Ms Marietta Resek
Mr & Mrs David  
 & Janet Rice
Mr Mark Rinne
Mrs Janet Ann Rover
Mr A D Saint
Ms Linda Sampson
Mr & Mrs W Scharer
Mrs Deborah Schultz
Beth & John Shepherd
Robert Short  
 & Sherry Kothari
Mr W & Mrs H Stacy
Mr Christopher Stone
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Diana Todd
Ms Christine Trenorden
The Honourable Justice  
 Ann Vanstone
Mr Nick Warden
Plus 10 anonymous 
patrons

TuTTI PATRON  
($250 - $499)
Mr & Mrs A H  
 & J A Baghurst
Mr Rob Baillie
Mr Brenton Barritt
Dr Gaby Berce
Mr Ben Beresford
Dr Adam Black
Mr Mark Blumberg
Dr & Mrs J & M Brooks
Mrs B M Brummitt
R W & D A Buttrose
Dr Ivan Camens
Mrs J Y Clothier
Mrs Bridget Conybeare
Dr R B Cooter
Mr Stephen Courtenay
Mr & Mrs Michael  
 & Jennifer Critchley
George & Ilana Culshaw
Mrs M D Daniel OAM
Fr John Devenport
Dr Alan Down
Lady Mary Downer
Mr & Mrs Stephen  
 & Emma Evans
Mr Douglas Fidock
Mr J H Ford
Mr Otto Fuchs
Mr John Gazley
Dr David  
 & Mrs Kay Gill

The Hon R  
 & Mrs L Goldsworthy
Mrs E A Gunson
Mr Neil Halliday
Mrs Jill Hay
Mr & Mrs Michael  
 & Janet Hayes
Mr John H Heard AM
Dr Robert  & Mrs   
 Margaret Heddle
Mr & Mrs Peter  
 & Helen Herriman
Mrs Kate Hislop
Mr D G W Howard
Alex & Natalia   
 Hubczenko
Mrs R J  Keane
Mr Angus Kennedy
Mrs Bellena Kennedy
Mr William Langman
Ms Patricia Lescius
Miss Jackie Leslie
Mr J H Love
Mrs M P Lynch
Mr Colin Macdonald
Mrs Beverley Macmahon
Robert Marrone
Dr Ruth Marshall
Mrs Barbara May
McGuirk Management  
 Consultants
Mrs Maureen Milne
Mrs Alyson Morrison
Margaret Mudge
Mr John Newson
K & K Palmer
Denys Pasitschnyk
Mrs Coralie Patterson
Dr B W Phillips
Mr D G Pitt
Mr Frank Prez
Mrs Catherine L 
Osborne
Mr & Mrs Ian  
 & Jen Ramsay
A L & J M Read
W D, E M & M D  
 Riceman
Mrs Nan Roberts
Dr I & Dr K 
 Roberts-Thomson
Mr Trevor Rowan
Mr Richard Rowland
Mrs Jill Russell
Mrs Meredyth Sarah AM
Dr W T H & Mrs  
 P M Scales
Mr David Scown
Dr Peter Shaughnessy
Mr Roger Siegele
Mr & Mrs Antony  
 & Mary Lou Simpson
Mr Grant Spence
Mr & Mrs Graham  
 & Maureen Storer
Mrs Anne Sutcliffe
Dr G M Tallis  
 & Mrs J M Tallis AM
Mr & Mrs R & J Taylor
Dr Peter Tillett
Mr David Turner
Mr J W Vale
Mrs Neta Diana Vickery
Dr Barbara Wall
Prof Robert Warner
Mr & Mrs F A  
 & G M Wayte

Mr & Mrs Brian  
 & Barbara White
Mrs Pamela Whittle
Mr Peter Wiadrowski
Mrs Gretta Willis
Hon David Wotton AM  
 & Mrs Jill Wotton
Plus 18 anonymous 
patrons

OTHER PATRON  
($2 - $249)
Ms S Abbott-Richards
Mr & Mrs Ken  
 & Mary Adams
Mrs Marie Adams
Ms E M Adamson
Julie Almond
Mr & Mrs Rob  
 & Cathy Anderson
Mrs Elizabeth Andrews
S & N Apponyi
Mr & Mrs J Arnold
Mr & Mrs L & M Ash
Mr & Mrs Michael  
 & Nanette Astley
Miss Delwyn Ayling
Dr Chris Bagley
Mrs Lucienne Bagley
Mrs M P Baker
Mr John William Baldock
Mrs Helen Bamford
Mr David Barker
Mrs Linda Barnes
Mr Nathan Barnes
Mrs Jill Barrington
Ms Christine Bartel
Mr & Mrs A & S M  
 Bartholomaeus
Mrs Hazel J Bartlett
Mrs Pat Bashford
Mrs Sally Bates
Mrs Judith Bayly
Miss Sue Bayly
Julie Beare
Ms Indrani Beharrylall
Prof Carl & Mrs  
 Wendy Belle
Mr & Mrs Julius  
 & Davorka Beniulis
Mr John Bennett
Ms Patsy Bennett
Mrs Elizabeth Berry
Dr Myra Betschild
Ms Helen Biar
Mrs Valerie Bickley
Mrs Elsa Biebrick
Charles Binks
Mrs Joy Bishop
Mr & Mrs Andrew  
 & Margaret Black
Mrs Betty A Blackwood
Mrs P M Blanchard
Ms Ruth Bloch
Mr John Bonnett
Mrs Jean Boomer
Mrs Stephanie Borgas
Mr & Mrs David  
 & Wendy Botting
Mrs Irene Botzek
Mr & Mrs J J  
 & E M Boyce
Mrs Helen Boyd
Mr & Mrs A W &  
 H M Bradshaw
Mrs Sonia Bradtke
Ms Jan Brand
Mrs Mary J Brebner

Mrs Margaret Brereton
Mrs Jenifer Bridger
Michalle Brigham
Mr & Mrs David  
 & Charlotte Bright
Miss Therese A Brock
Mr & Mrs Bruce  
 & Helen Brooks
Mrs Lois Brooks
Miss Patricia Broughton
Mrs Beverley Brown OAM
Mr & Mrs Geoff  
 & Celia Brown
Brigid H Bruer
Mrs Isabelle Bryce
Mrs Aileen Buesing
Ms Elaine Bungey
Mrs Judith Bunney
Mr Alan Burgess
Mrs Nancy Burrows
Mr & Mrs G J & K Button
Mr Ray Cadd
Ms N C Caldwell
Ms Mattea Cardillo
Mr Grant & Mrs  
 Catherine Carr
Miss Nancy Carroll
Mrs Betty Carson
Mrs Joyce M Carter
Mrs Julie Carter
Ms Lynette Caruso
Ms Jennifer Cashmore AM
Mrs Pam Catcheside
Susan & Geoff Chatfield
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Cynthia Childs
Dr G & Mrs R  
 Chittleborough
Miss Patricia Church
Mrs June Clark
Mrs Patricia Clark
Mrs Margaret Cliff
Mr R L Clisby
Mrs Eileen Cloke
Ms Barbara Coligan
Dr John Combe
Mrs Karen Commerford
Ms Heather Cooper
Mrs Rosemarie  
 Copeland
Mrs Joan Corr
Mr & Mrs Frank  
 & Betty Cousins
Mr Brenton Cox
Mr Don R R Creedy
Mr A Critten
Mr Graham A Crooks
Mrs Betty Cross
Dr Rosemary Crowley
Mr Mark Curtis
Mr John Daenke
H Ann Dandridge
Mr R J C Davenport
Ms Jane V Davey
Dr V R & Dr D E Davey
Dr Gerald Davies
Mrs Joan Davies
Mrs R Day
Mr Duncan Dean
Mrs Cath Deans
Mrs Sarah Denbigh
Mr Ian Denbigh
Ms Anja Dickel
Ms Beverly Dilena
Mr S J Dimopoulos
Mr & Mrs Lindsay  
 & Joan Doherty

tHAnK yOU tO OUR 2013 dOnORS
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Mrs P J Dolan
Dr P M Dolan
Mrs Margherita Dorsch
Ms Anne Douglas
Mrs Margaret Duncan
Miss Joan Durdin
Miss Judith A Duval
Ms Col Eardley
Mr Raymond G Eaton
In Memory of  
 Dr Ian Aarons
Dr Bill Edwards
Ms Penelope Edwards
Mrs Stella Edwards
Mr & Mrs Ron  
 & Diana Edwin-Scott
Mr & Mrs J & J Emsley
Brian & Jane English
Mr & Mrs A G  
 & P J Evans
Mr Trevor Evans
Miss Chelsea Ewers
Mrs Brenda Eyles
Mr & Mrs Terry  
 & Jacqueline Eyre
Mrs Barbara Fargher
Mr Charles Fearon
Prof Norman Feather
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Pat Feirclough
Ms Barbara Fergusson
Miss Conxita Ferrer
Mr Robin Field
Mrs Eileen Filmer
Mr Martyn Fisher
Rodney Fiske
Mr Keith Fitzgerald
Mr & Mrs J M  
 & V J Fletcher
Dr Janice Fletcher
Mr R P Fletcher
Mr David Flint
Dr & Mrs P W  
 & E L Ford
Mrs Patricia Forrest
Ms Judith Fradd
Ms K R Franklin
Dr R R Freeman  
 OAM RFD
Mrs Peggy Friedrichs
Dr & Mrs W R  
 & J E Fuller
Dr William Fuller
Mr Peter Gabbett
Mrs Ruth Gallasch
Mr & Mrs Christopher  
 & Marribelle Gellie
Dr Heather Gibb
Mr Leonard Gibbins
Dr Dennis Gifford
Mrs Cynthia Gilmore
Mr & Mrs Donald J  
 & Rhonda A Gilmour
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Margaret Glasson
Mrs Margaret Glazbrook
Ms Beverley Golding
Mr David Gordon
Mr & Mrs M Gorroick
Mr Vlad Grigoriev
Mrs Naomi Guerin
Mrs Josephine Hails
Mrs Mavis Haines
Mr & Mrs Andrew  
 & Suzanne Hall
Mrs Judith A Hall
Mrs Patricia Halloran
Mrs Maureen  
 June Hamann
Mr Allan Hammond

Dr & Mrs H  
 & M Handley
Ms Elizabeth Handsley
Mr M H Hanley
Ms Kay Hann
Dr Michael Harbord
Mr Colin Harris
Dr Mary Harris
Mrs Ruth Harris
Mr John & Mrs  
 Carolyn Harry
Mr & Mrs Barrie  
 & Sandra Hartley
Mr David Hawker
Ms Ivana Heib
Mr & Mrs C J Helmore
Mrs D T Herd
Mrs N G Hewett
Ms Hilda Hill
Mr Charles Hill-Brown
Ms Elizabeth Hobbin
Dr  I H & Mrs  
 E M Hodgson
Mrs Mary Hogan OAM
Mr John Holden
Mrs Gae Holds
Mr & Mrs Robert  
 & Phyllis Homburg
Mrs Geraldine Hood
Ms Lynnette Hortin
Didi Hounslow
Dr & Mrs Allan  
 & Unity Hunt
Mr Allan Hunt
Betty Huntley
Ms Patricia Hurdle
Mr Dennis Hurley
Ms Sue Hurst
Mrs Rosalie Hutchison
Miss Tieneke Inkenharg
Mr John Inkster
Mr & Mrs F Innes
Mr Martin Ireland
Dr Carol Irizarry
Mr John Jacobs
Ms Helen K James
I & M Jansons
Mr W Jedrzejczak
Mr Michael A Jeffries
Mr Harry Jelfs
Dr M Jepson
Mrs Hayley  
 Jessup-Case
Ms Helen M Johnston
Dr Olive Johnston OAM
Mrs M A P Jolly
Mr Derek A Jones
Ms Marilyn Jones
Mr Alexander Jude
The Hon Ms  
 Sandra Kanck
Dr Andrea Katsaros
Mrs Valma Keen
Ms Janet Kelly
Ms Pauline Kemp
Dr Elizabeth Kenihan
Dr Alison Kent
Mr P H Kentish
Mrs N Key
Mr James D Kidman
Dr Hugh Kildea
Mrs Nikki King
Mr Peter King
Mr & Mrs Lyall  
 & Anne Klaffer
Mr & Mrs Abraham  
 & Bronwyn Kleinburd
Mr & Mrs M & K Klopp
Mr Stefan Kmit
Miss Anthea Krassay

Mr Andrew Krause
Dr Susan Krieg
Rev Martin Kriewaldt
Mrs Lily Kusmanoff
Mrs Pamela Lacey
Miss C Lake
Mrs Daphne Lascaris
Dr & Mrs P M Last
Mrs L Lavan
Mr & Mrs David  
 & Barbara Lee
Mr & Mrs R E  
 & P M Leedham
The Hon Christopher   
 Legoe QC
Mrs June P Letton
Ms Anne Levy AO
Dr Owen & Rev  
 Mary Lewis
Mrs Mary Lightfoot
Prof Grier Lin
Mrs Mary Lindon
Ms M Lindsay-Oliver
Mrs Jan Little
Mrs Rae Long
Mrs Janet Lothian
Mr & Mrs T & D Love
Miss Rose Luppino
Mrs Margaret Lush
Ms Jane Lyall
Mrs Margaret Lyall
Mrs Kathleen MacAllan
Mrs Nell Macartney
Mrs Anna Mackie
Ms Carole Mackintosh
Mr & Mrs K D  
 & D S MacPherson
Ms Denise Maddigan
Drs A & C Magarey
Mr Michael Maier
Miss E R Mannion
Mr John Marks
Mr A J Marriage
Mr Glenn Marsland
Mr Stewart Martin
Mrs Lee Mason
Dr Maurice Materne
Mrs Adele Mayrhofer
Mrs M E McCaskill
Mrs Shirley McDermott
Mrs Jennifer McDonald
Dr Peter McDonald
Ms Fiona McEwen
Ms Pam McEwin
G H McFarlane
Miss Carole McKay
Mrs Jan McLachlan
Mr Brian & Mrs  
 Merilyn McPhee
Mr Murray Meharry
Mrs Annemarie Mein
Mr R W Menz
Mr & Mrs Neale &   
 Rosemary Michael
Mrs Catherine Millar
Julie Green & Brian Mills
Mrs Vicki Minge
Mrs Liz Mitton
Mr Ron Modra
Mr Frederick Molenaar
Mr & Mrs D &  
 M Molyneux
Mrs Gillian Morefield
Mr & Mrs D & J Morrell
Mr Howard Morris
Dr Sharon Mosler
Dr & Mrs Christopher  
 & Wendy Moten
Mrs Diana Motteram

Mrs Amparo  
 Moya-Knox
Miss Monica Moyes
Dr Anna Muller
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Margaret 
Munchenberg
Mr & Mrs W B  
 & E J Murchland
Mrs Nina Murton
Mr & Mrs W  
 & F Nankivell
Mr & Mrs Norman  
 & Jane Neale
Mr G K Netting
Mrs Elizabeth Nichols
Mr Alex Nicol
Ms Meredith Nunan
Dr & Mrs J A O’Brien
Ms Lyn O’Brien
Mrs Beverley   
 O’Donohue
Ms J M O’Grady
Mrs Christine O’Nyons
Mrs Ruth Oster
Mr Deeon Otto
Ms Susan Ovenden
D M Owen
Mr Mike Page
Ms Janice Pallant
Mr & Mrs David  
 & Anthea Palmer
Dr John Parker
Mr Andy Partridge
Mr Kent & Mrs  
 Patricia Patrick
Mr Tom Penn-Davies
Mr Robert Petchell
Mrs Sharon Peterer
Mr & Mrs W  
 & G Peterka
Mrs Mildred Pettigrew
John Pfitzner
Ms Debbie Phillips
Ms Rhonda Phillips
Mrs Jan L Pickering
The Hon Carolyn   
 Pickles
N B & G A Piller
Mrs Priscilla Pincus
Mr & Mrs David  
 & Annette Pinnock
Mrs L Polacco
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Dalece Pope
Mr & Mrs R M  
 & E J O Potter
Mr John Pratt
Miss Marlene Pressley
Mrs Merryl Prideaux
Mr & Mrs I & M Probert
Sandy Pugsley
Mrs Millie Putland
Mr & Mrs Michael &   
 Susan Rabbitt
Mrs Marilyn Rae
Ms Caroline Rainsford
Mrs J H Renton
Mrs Una Reuther
Mr Anthony Richardson
C Richardson
Mrs E A Richmond
Mr David Roach
Mrs Diana J Roberts
Ms Janice Roberts
Mrs Patricia M Roberts
Mr Michael Robinson
Ms Elizabeth Robson
Mr & Mrs Danny  
 & Carolyn Ronan

T C & H Russel
Mrs Catherine Russell
Mr & Mrs Jeff  
 & Barbara Ryan
Dr & Mrs T W & M J Sag
Mrs Myriam Sampson
Mr Robin Sanderson
Mr Michael Sandley
Mrs Joan C Sawyer
Mrs Mary Scales
Chris Schacht
Mrs Ulrike Schacht
Dr Rolf Scharfbillig
Mr Charles Schembri
Mrs Lynette Schodde
Mr & Mrs R &  
 M Schubert
Mrs Golda Schulze
Mr Gerhard Schurer
Mrs Janet Scott
Mrs Joan Scott
Mr & Mrs Robert  
 & Lillian Scott
Miss Rosemary  
 S Scrutton
Mr Karl Seppelt
Mrs Thelma Shannon
Prof Ivan Shearer
Mr & Mrs James  
 & Sue Sherriff
Mrs Jill Shields
Ms Alice Shore
Mrs Sharon Siemers
Mr & Mrs Eric  
 & Eleanor Sim
Dr & Mrs I & A Simmons
Ms Georgina Simpson
Mrs Fusae Simpson
Mrs Karen Simpson
Mrs Margaret Simpson
Dr A J & Mrs H M Smith
Mrs Anthea Smith
Mrs C B Smith
Mrs Carol Smith
Mrs Eileen Smith
Miss Marie Smith
Mrs Patricia A Smith
Mr Peter W Smith
Dr James Smyth
Mr John Southwell
Mrs Maureen Spain
Mrs Anne Specht
Mrs June Sperryn
Ms Janet Spooner-Adey
Miss Monica Spurgeon
Mrs Cynthia Spurr
Mr Mark St John Starks
Mr Gerrit Stafford
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Christine Stanley
Katherine  
 Stanley-Murray
Mrs J K Steer
Mrs Margaret   
 Stephenson
Dr Leon & Mrs  
 Audrey Stern
Mrs Jill Stevens
Ms Rosemary Stimson
Mrs Ruth Stratton
Dr Peter Strawhan  
 & Ms Jane Robinson
Mr & Mrs RJ & B Stuart
Ms Sandra Stuart
Mrs Jan Stuckey
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Nea Studd
Ms Carol Summers
Mr Andrew Svencis
Mrs Verna Symons

Mrs M Taylor
Mr & Mrs Brian  
 & Pam Taylor
Mr & Mrs G M  
 & J H Taylor
Ms Edith J Tennant
Mr John Terpelle
Mrs Myrene Teusner
Mr & Mrs Brian  
 & Beverley Thom
Dr B & Mrs V Thomas
Mr Frank Thomas
Mr & Mrs Richard  
 & Maryanne Thomas
Dr & Mrs Barrie   
 Thompson
Dr Bryan Thompson
Ms Justine Thompson
Mrs Vaaldir Thrupp
Mrs Jillian Tierney
Dr Kathy Tiller
Dr M G Tingay  
 & Mrs A N Robinson
Mrs Kim Tolotta
Mrs Margaret Tostevin
Daphne Treloar
Mr & Mrs John  
 & Janice Trewartha
Ms Michele Tucker
Mrs Dorothy Tynski
Mr & Mrs Allan  
 & Jenny Vaisham
Ms Corrie Vanderhoek
Ms Shiela Varnes
Mr Anthony Vaughan
Dr Francis Vaughan
Mr Greg Veitch
Mrs J Venner
Dr Allan K Wallace
Mr Allan Wallace
Dr Christian Wangel
Miss E B Ward
Dr R C Warren
Mr & Mrs Stuart  
 & Teresa Wattison
Ms Andree  
 Wayne-Smith
Mrs Christine Webber
Mrs E M Webster
C Wetherley
Ms Marion White
Mrs Nancy White
Ms Anne Wight
Mr & Mrs R Wildy
Mrs Allisyn Wilkinson
Mr D B Willes
Dr D J & Mrs  
 H-M Williams
Mrs Denise Williams
Mr James Williams
Miss Ruth Willing
Mr EW & Mrs  
 DM Wilson
Mr James Wilson
Mrs Jane Wilson
B Withy - M Spain
Dr L B Woodard-Knight
Mr Graham Woolford
Mr Gerard Wright
Mr Marcel Yanez
Mr Yuval Yarom
Mr & Mrs Peter  
 & Dawn Yeatman
The Hon Carmel Zollo   
 MLC
Mrs Lorre Zukerman
Plus 110 anonymous 
patrons
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57 Films
Absorb – Paper Products 
Australian Education Union – SA Branch
Boylen
colourthinking – Corporate Consultant
Coopers Brewery Ltd 
Corporate Conversation

Elite Marketing
Haigh’s Chocolates
Hickinbotham Group
Normetals
Peregrine Travel
Poster Impact
The Playford Adelaide

The ASO receives Commonwealth Government funding through the Australia Council; its arts funding and advisory body. The Orchestra continues 
to be funded by the Government of South Australia through Arts SA. The Adelaide City Council continues to support the ASO during the 2013–14 
financial year.

tHAnK yOU tO OUR 2013 PARtneRS



When not unlocking Australia’s valuable 
energy resources, we’re behind the scenes 
supporting a wide range of cultural and 
community activities.

Santos has been the Principal Partner of the 
Adelaide Symphony Orchestra for 15 years, 
helping deliver popular community events 
such as the Symphony Under the Stars.  

Not meaning to beat our own drum, but 
in 2012 alone, we backed South Australian 
community events and organisations to the 
tune of $6 million.

At Santos, we believe that contributing to 
the vibrant culture and diverse communities 
of South Australia is well worth the effort.

Because we’re not just an energy company, 
we’re a company with energy.

Standing behind 
our community

When not unlocking Australia’s valuable 
energy resources, we’re behind the scenes 
supporting a wide range of cultural and 
community activities.

Santos has been the Principal Partner of 
the Adelaide Symphony Orchestra for  
15 years, helping deliver popular 
community events such as the  
Santos Symphony Under the Stars.

Not meaning to beat our own drum, 
but in 2013, we backed South Australian 
community events and organisations to 
the tune of $9 million.

At Santos, we believe that contributing 
to the vibrant culture and diverse 
communities of South Australia is well 
worth the effort.

Because we’re not just an energy 
company, we’re a company with energy.


